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From Swampfield to Montague

Montague was originally part of Sunderland, then-called Swampfield. The first families in this area built houses on “Hunting Hill” and along the Saw Mill in what is now the center of the village. The land was good for farming and the hill good for hunting. This northern section of Swampfield was host to part of the east-west main artery from Albany to Boston, with at least two ferry crossings in the area and the main road going through what is now the center of the village, up Federal Street and then over Dry Hill.

The growing local population in this area decided they wanted their own local parish, so in 1751 – twenty five years before Massachusetts and other states declared their independence from England – they created the North Parish of Swampfield (now the First Congregational Church of Montague). A petition was sent to the House of Representatives in Boston – King George II of England’s representatives – who approved the spin-off parish as a legal entity. A Year later the newly-ordained Reverend Judd Nash became the North parish’s first religious minister and established church meetings in Root’s Tavern on what was then the Kings Highway (now Old Sunderland Road, at the corner of School Street). This building is still standing and is now a residence.

A year later, on December 22, 1753, the residents of North Parish created a legal governing structure, incorporated, and by order of the General Court of the Massachusetts Bay Colony, became officially known as the town of Montague.

Soon after a Meeting House (church) was built just to the west of where the library now stands, and stood until 1832 when – due to a rift between the Congregationalists and the Baptists – the building was torched and burned to the ground. Some people in recent times think this may have not only been deliberate arson, but coordinated between the two.

The following spring, in 1834, two churches were erected on opposite sides of the town common: The current Congregational Church (made of brick, from local clay beds) and the Unitarian Church.  The Baptists erected their own church at Moore’s Corner in North Leverett.

In 1858 the town built a town hall, what is now the library, on the north side of the town common. Thirty years later, in the upstairs “Lecture Hall” the Montague Grange, the 141st local Grange in Massachusetts, was organized.

During these years there were many stores and shops in Montague Center, lining Main Street. Three general stores, several small factories for such things as shoes and purses, and even a gas station where Main Street turns sharply north towards the grist mill and the railroad depot just beyond. This gas station housed the town’s first fire engine, owned and operated by the owner of the gas station and stored in the basement of the building. The driveway-out followed between Sawmill River and Main Street above, crossing the river just east of the existing bridge and curved left up to Main coming out at the driveway across from the mill.

The Patrons of Husbandry

At the end of the Civil War the US government needed to get an assessment of agricultural production in the south. During the years of way production had dropped precipitously and many of the farm hands had left to fight, and were either dead or maimed. The government sent Oliver Kelly to tour the south and report back. 

This was an uncomfortable position to be in, being a Northerner, and an agent for the victor’s government. But Kelly soon discovered that being a member of the Order of Masons he was welcomed into the homes of farmers and businessmen as a brother, and he soon thought that a secret Order for farmers could do more to heal sectionalism and increase the fortunes of farmers than the government ever could. Upon returning to Washington DC to report, and taking a desk job in the Post Office Department, he began to discuss his idea with associates and friends. On December 4th of 1867, the Patrons of Husbandry was formed, and Kelly resigned his position at the Post Office to devote his energy full-time to spread the word and build the Order.

The Grange was initially set up as a three-level organization. The National Grange was the body that set the by-laws of the Grange and lobbied for legislative issues in Washington D.C. State Granges were set up in states with ten or more local Granges, to lobby at the state level of government. Lastly, and most importantly, were the Subordinate or local Granges, where a person could actually join and receive the benefits of membership. Local Granges would debate all sorts of issues, usually problems facing farmers, and submit formal recommendations to the State or National Grange to ease hardships on the American farmer.

Local Granges quickly became social centers in their communities. Dances, potlucks and gatherings of all types occurred on at least a weekly basis, with potlucks usually preceding each meeting and coffee and cake afterwards to increase opportunities for socializing. Education was a major part of the local grange, with a lecturer’s program slotted for every meeting.

A Grange has sixteen officers. Six of them are titles taken from traditional agricultural roles, such as the Master, Overseer, Steward and two Assistant Stewards, and Gate Keeper. Three are named for mythological goddesses of agriculture: Flora, Ceres and Pomona. A Lecturer is charged with education. Officers include a Secretary, a Treasurer, a Chaplain, and a three-member Executive Committee.

Meetings are typically monthly, with some Granges meeting twice monthly. Some Granges own their halls, and have building committees to handle the upkeep. Some Granges rent the basement of a local church or another Fraternal Hall, such as Masons, Elks, or Lions.

Some of the major achievements the National Grange claims to its credit were the formation of the Anti-Monopoly "Populist" Party and the break-up of the railroad monopolies in the late 1800’s; ballot reform and anti-trust laws; rural credit; school lunch and milk programs; rural road maintenance; and the creation of the Department of Commerce and the Department of Labor, with their heads as members of the President's cabinet.

They helped create a land-grant university system, of which the Massachusetts Agricultural College, now UMass Amherst, was one. 

They also advocated for free rural mail delivery and the creation of the parcels post. The Grange sponsored legislation to create the Rural Electrification Administration and the rural telephone program, bringing electricity and telephone lines to rural America and its farms. The Grange was the dominant force in bringing Social Security to farmers and other self-employed persons. Quite an amazing history!

The Montague Grange

On March 18, 1887, nine men and five women met in the Grand Army of the Republic room in the Montague Center Town Hall and organized the Montague Grange, the 141st Grange in Massachusetts.

The founding members were names from the town’s past, such as Clapp, Root, Ripley and Rist, among others.

In the early years the main interest of the Grange was truly agricultural. There was little active business and each meeting included a topic for discussion or debate on a popular issue. Subjects ranged from the merits of raising pigs for money, grinding corn with the cobs, the correct application of manure and the relative qualities of wood to burn for heat and efficiency. Some debates concerned the position of women in the home, should they share in financial planning or go to market alone? One meeting was devoted to bread making. In 1889 a letter was received from the Sec. of State of the US about choosing the national flower. This was debated over the course of two meetings and suggestions were golden rod, phlox, daisy, pansy, iris and potato. The time for closing the meetings was so firm that a motion had to be made to continue discussion.

When the street lighting association was formed the Grange lent the hall for their meetings. There was also much support for local free delivery of mail.

In 1905 the town was considering taking the upstairs meeting room of the town hall, where the Grange was meeting, for a library. The Grange formed a committee to “resolutely oppose” the taking of the room for such purposes and secured the room for $35/year. A year later the rent went up considerably and so in 1908 the Grange started looking for a building to buy. Considered were Ed Whitney’s shop on North Street, Clapp’s shop on School Street (now Station Street), or building a new hall. Whitney wanted $700, Clapp $400, and a new building would cost $600, so the Grange voted to buy Clapp’s shop, and paid it off in four years. In the first year they had to buy a stove and lights, and seven dozen chairs were bought for $45.

That year the Grange donated use of their new hall for a lecture hall to the Agricultural School at the end of the street. (Forty years earlier, soon after the Civil War ended, a large schoolhouse was built on the location of the current building elementary school. Apparently this was the first consolidated school in the U.S. with grades going all the way up from first through high school. When the town’s high school grades were consolidated to Turners Falls the building briefly became an Agricultural School – an offshoot of a program backed by the Patrons of Husbandry.)

Many letters were written to the State Senators and other agencies concerning such issues as the Parcel Post Act and the law banning shooting ducks and wild fowl from January to September. Millers Falls Grange was formed in 1910 and much help was given.

In 1911 it was voted that the Montague Grange accept a proposal of the street lighting association to install a light pole at the corner of Main and what is now Station Streets with a switch to control it in the hall where they were still meeting for a cost of $5 for the first year and $2.50 a year thereafter.

In 1912 a delegate was elected to serve on the Montague Village Improvement Society. The village was opposed to moving the ninth grade to Turners Falls. Interesting.

In 1915 the Grange name was placed on the horse trough on the commons for a cost of $130.

In 1916 $100 was donated to the fledgling firemen’s association. In the next few years material donations were made as well.

By now membership had swelled to about 200 and meetings averaged 80 in attendance. A program of note around this time was “Which is more conducive to happiness on the farm, running water or a Victrola?” and in 1917 a speaker came to discuss the new fish hatchery planned. The Grange voted in support of the bill for prohibition.

The sewer line was extended down to School Street (Station Street) and the Grange joined on, also installing a furnace and soon also brought water to the sink.

In 1920 a letter was sent to Washington favoring the League of Nations. A communication was read setting a date for Arbor Day, and a petition was circulated to repeal daylight savings time. A letter was also sent to the telephone company expressing a wish that Montague stay on the Greenfield exchange.

In 1923 there was a need for extra classrooms for the school. It was voted to provide the dining room for school use for the second grade for $25/m. Over the years the Grange helped clear the pond for skating. The Grange discussed the building of the sidewalk on the west-side of Main Street, paid a share for equipment for the fire dept, sent delegates to hearings regarding service on the B&M Railroad, and donated the water fountain at the ballpark.

In 1927 the Grange voted to extend cordiality to people who would be losing their homes to the reservoir being built at Swift River (the Quabbin). In the fall the Grange collected and donated clothes to victims of the flood in Vermont and the Grange participated in setting up a Christmas Tree on the commons.

In 1931 the Master announced that there would not be any more dancing at Grange meetings. A committee was appointed to improve Bartlett’s Grove for swimming. A new dam was constructed and a diving board was installed. Many Grange picnics were held there over the years. In 1933 the Norway Spruce was planted on the common. $7.

These were the years of the great depression and Roosevelt administration had just started the “New Deal.”  The Grange was asked to take part in the NRA (National Recovery Organization) parade in Greenfield and a float was made. Later the Grange contacted the selectmen seeking funds to fix the town hall and WPA funds were secured.

In July, 1935, Master Lester Clark announced that the Unitarian Church wanted to give the church building to the Grange. This started a project that covered many years. A clear deed could not be obtained until members of the Taft family had been contacted and signed-off on their rights to the land as when it had been deeded to the Unitarian Church it was to revert to the family if the church was ever dissolved. Finding the heirs took almost six years. The banks would lend no money without a clear deed so members of the Grange loaned money for the extensive repairs.

In 1937 the 50th anniversary of the Grange was held with large attendance and reports of progress on the new hall.

In 1938 the Grange worked hard to get town garbage and rubbish collection. An article by petition was placed on the town meeting warrant, and passed. Talk now also started about the formation of a formal volunteer fire department of at least ten members and an auto-hose pump that could reduce local fire insurance rates. It took until 1940 to accomplish this.

Progress on the new hall was slow. A committee was appointed to see about selling the old hall on School Street. It was necessary to dig a cellar for a dining room, kitchen and furnace room. At the time of the 1938 hurricane the building was on jacks! In 1944 it was decided to sell the School Street hall to the new fire department for $1000.

Veterans reported lost in WWII were Lt. Col. George Pierce, Pvt. Charles DeWolf and Robert Gillette. A plaque was ordered and placed in the hall with the names of all the members who served, and a framed collection of photographs. During this time, due to rations, supper committees had to apply to the ration board for stamps to buy things like sugar and coffee. The Grange voted to support Russian relief. There was a coal shortage and dances had to be suspended.

When the school house burned in 1945, the Grange offered the PTA use of the hall until 1947. A canteen was formed and used the Grange kitchen until the fire station had proper equipment. When the Congregational Church dining room was being renovated the Ladies Society use the Grange hall.

In 1946 the Grange bought a new flag for the commons and in 1947 went on record as opposed to a state sales tax. In 1948 the Gleaners bought and erected four road signs with meeting times and the Grange logo (only one of these remains). People in Sweden and Holland who had been helped by donations during the war gave a gift of 250 tulip bulbs to the Grange.

Many civic activities occupied the Grange during the next years. Canning was done for the hospitals, carpools were set up to take children to swimming lessons in Greenfield, a UN flag was made for the new school, and Grange members helped in repairs in the town hall building for rec.

In 1951 the use of the hall for catholic Mass was granted to St. Mary’s parish of TF for $10 per Sunday. Mass was well attended for over 15 years.

In 1954 work was done on the common. The water fountain was repaired and painted. A stone memorial was placed and landscaped. Preperations were begun for the bicentennial of the Town of Montague. 200 years! A float was made for the parade. The hall was decorated with bunting and many members took part in the tableaux, the block dance and the rag shag parade.

Books and magazines were collected and taken to the State hospital in Rutland, another tree was planted on the common, horshoe courts were built and lighted at the ball park, and money was donated to stock the school pond for the children. Bicycle inspections were held at the hall, as were polio shots.

The hall started to need repairs again, and in 1963 the inside hall ceiling was lowered and new lights were installed and the room was painted. Over the next few years the west roof was repaired, the cupola repaired and enclosed to keep out bats and birds. In 1965 the rent to St. Mary’s was increased due to fuel costs, which was still coal. St. Mary’s stopped renting at this point.

In 1970 the Grange voted to send a letter to our state senators and representatives to oppose using the plains as a dump for Boston.

In 1977 disaster struck when the hall was unheated one particularly cold night and the furnace room floor heaved. The furnace was totally ruined and the building and foundation suffered several cracks. Work began immediately on repair. The new furnace cost $2700 and a new furnace room was built to meet building code standards. At this time membership was at its lowest with only 15 to 20 faithful members on hand.

The next year coffee houses and contra dances started happening in the hall, which helped with building income. All town elections were held in the hall and the Grange held food sales to raise money.

In 1981 the cupola required repairs again and Duane Jenks was hired to do the work for $2192.

In 1984 the kitchen was renovated. The old sinks were removed and a new steel sink installed and the shelves and counter tops were redone.

Other items of note: Grange was the first to put out sand barrels for public use in winter; installed electric box on common for lights and power for concerts and Christmas; collects gifts yearly for Kurn Hattan Home children; swimming lessons at Green Pond, then Lake Wyola, then Greenfield.
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